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>>Committee commenced at 14:59

Chairman (Mr. Hickes): Thank you. | would
like to call the Committee meeting to order.
Before we begin, | would like to ask Ms.
Quassa to lead us in prayer, please.

>>Prayer

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Quassa. Today we
are here with the Standing Committee on
Oversight of Government Operations and
Public Accounts’ televised hearing on the
2022-23 Public Accounts of Nunavut. I’1l start
off with the opening comments and then I’11
invite our partners to provide theirs.

Good day. | am pleased to begin by welcoming
everyone to this meeting of the Legislative
Assembly’s Standing Committee on Oversight
of Government Operations and Public
Accounts.

We have convened today to begin the Standing
Committee’s televised hearing on the 2022-23
Public Accounts of Nunavut.

On behalf of the Standing Committee, | am
pleased to formally welcome the Office of the
Auditor General of Canada to Igaluit. I am also
pleased to introduce my Standing Committee
colleagues:

e Mr. Alex Sammurtok, Co-Chair of the
Standing Committee and Member for
Rankin Inlet North-Chesterfield Inlet;

e Bobby Anavilok, Member for Kugluktuk;

e Joelie Kaernerk, Member for Amittug;

e Mary Killiktee, Member for Uggummiut;
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e Adam Arreak Lightstone, Member for
Igaluit-Manirajak;

e Solomon Malliki, Member for Aivilik;

e Karen Nutarak, Member for Tununig;

e Joanna Quassa, Member for Aggu;

e Joseph Quqgiaq, Member for Netsilik;

e Joe Savikataaq, Member for Arviat South;
and

e Craig Simailak, Member for Baker Lake.

Ms. Brewster has asked me to pass on her
regrets. She is not able to... . Oh, speak of
the... . My apologies. Ms. Brewster, welcome
to the Chamber.

As my colleagues are aware, section 46 of the
federal Nunavut Act prescribes the role of the
Auditor General of Canada in relation to
Nunavut’s territorial accounts. The legislation
provides that:

“The auditor of Nunavut shall audit the
accounts and financial transactions of Nunavut
in each fiscal year in accordance with generally
accepted auditing standards and report to the
Assembly on the result of that audit.”

It also provides that the Auditor General “shall
call attention to any other matter falling within
the scope of the audit made under subsection
(1) that, in the opinion of the auditor, should be
brought to the attention of the Assembly.”

Members, section 74 of the territorial Financial
Administration Act provides that:

“The Public Accounts for the fiscal year must
be laid before the Legislative Assembly on or
before December 31 following the end of the
fiscal year or, if the Legislative Assembly is not
then in session, not later than 15 days after the
commencement of the next session of the
Legislative Assembly.”
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The 2021-22 territorial public accounts were
tabled in the House on November 8, 2022. The
Standing Committee’s televised hearing on the
public accounts was held on September 21,
2023. The Standing Committee subsequently
presented its report to the House at its sitting of
March 5, 2024. The Government of Nunavut’s
response to the Standing Committee’s report
was recently provided to Members and will be
formally tabled during the Legislative
Assembly’s upcoming fall sitting. The 2022-23
territorial public accounts were tabled in the
House on May 30 of this year, five months after
the statutory deadline.

Members, today’s televised hearing provides an
opportunity for Members of the Standing
Committee to examine a number of themes and
topics, including:

e The government’s response to the Standing
Committee’s report on the review of the
2021-22 public accounts;

e The reasons for the late tabling of the 2022-
23 public accounts;

e The government’s audit of the Petroleum
Products Revolving Fund;

e Budgetary and financial management
sustainability and flexibility;

e Transparency in financial reporting;

e Risks and uncertainties, including
“liabilities related to contaminated sites and
the use of estimates to determine potential
remediation costs”;

e The activities of the Government of
Nunavut’s Contaminated Sites Working
Group;

e Changes in accounting standards that have
been issued by the Public Sector
Accounting Board of Canada; and

e The status of comptrollership branch
priorities and initiatives that are contained
in the Department of Finance’s current
business plan.
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Officials from the Government of Nunavut
have been invited to appear at this televised
hearing, which will provide an opportunity for
the Standing Committee to examine the extent
to which the government has been taking action
on issues identified by the Auditor General and
the Committee itself.

Information published by the Office of the
Auditor General indicates that its next report to
the Legislative Assembly will be a follow-up
report on the issue of child and family services.
As Members will recall, the Auditor General’s
2023 Report to the Legislative Assembly on
this issue was tabled on May 30 of last year.
The Standing Committee’s televised hearing on
the report was held from September 19 to 20,
2023. The Standing Committee subsequently
presented its report to the House at its sitting of
November 1, 2023.

It is also anticipated that a report on the
Nunavut Housing Corporation’s public housing
program will be provided to the Legislative
Assembly in 2025.

I would like to conclude by addressing some
housekeeping matters. | ask all Members and
witnesses to ensure that their cellphones and
other electronic devices do not disrupt these
proceedings. In order to assist our interpreters
and technical staff, | ask that all Members and
witnesses go through the Chair before
speaking. | also ask that all Members and
witnesses refrain from the use of acronyms
during these proceedings.

Members of the Standing Committee have been
provided with a number of documents for their
ease of reference during this televised hearing.
For the benefit of our witnesses and
interpreters, |1 ask Members to be precise when
quoting from or making reference to specific
documents.
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This hearing is being televised live across
Nunavut on community cable stations and the
direct-to-home satellite services of both the
Bell and Shaw networks. It is also being live-
streamed on the Legislative Assembly’s
website. Transcripts of the televised hearing
will be posted on the Legislative Assembly’s
website at a later date.

Under Rule 91(5) of the Rules of the Legislative
Assembly of Nunavut, the government is
required to table a formal written response to
reports of Standing Committees within 120
days of their presentation, and | anticipate that
we will be presenting our report on this
televised hearing at the upcoming fall sitting of
the House.

I would now like to invite the Office of the
Auditor General to make its opening statement.
Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Ullukkut. Good afternoon. Mr.
Chairman, thank you for inviting us to appear
before the Committee to discuss our audit of
the Government of Nunavut’s consolidated
financial statements for the 2022-23 fiscal year.
Joining me today is Fera Awada, a principal
responsible for financial audits. We look
forward to supporting the Committee’s review
of the results of the government’s financial
transactions.

The consolidated financial statements in the
Nunavut Public Accounts are a key government
accountability document to help Members of
the Legislative Assembly understand the
outcome of the government’s financial
transactions. As the Government of Nunavut’s
auditor, our primary responsibility is to audit
the consolidated financial statements and
express an opinion on them. We also report on
the government’s compliance with specified
authorities.
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The Committee’s review of the territory’s
public accounts is an important step in ensuring
accountability for how public funds are spent
and how government finances are reported. Our
work supports the Legislative Assembly’s
oversight of the government, promotes
transparency, and supports good financial
management.

The government carries out its accounting and
financial reporting responsibilities through its
Office of the Comptroller General in the
Department of Finance. The Deputy Minister of
Finance and the comptroller general will
answer questions about the preparation of the
financial statements. We will focus on our
audit.

The result of our audit work is contained in our
independent auditor’s report in the public
accounts. In our report, we issued an
unmodified or “clean” audit opinion on the
government’s consolidated financial statements
for the ‘22-23 fiscal year. This means that the
financial statements were prepared in
accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles for the public sector and that you can
rely on the information provided.

However, as the Committee is aware, the
government missed the statutory financial
reporting deadline. This delay was because the
financial statements of the Petroleum Products
Revolving Fund were completed too late to
meet the December 31 statutory reporting
deadline for the government’s financial
statements. The *22-23 Public Accounts of
Nunavut were tabled in the Legislative
Assembly on May 30, 2024. Because the
government missed the reporting deadline, we
have issued a modified opinion on compliance
with specified authorities.

We wish to draw the Committee’s attention to
two issues. The first was raised previously and
involves inadequate inventory management
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practices and significant control deficiencies
for spare parts and lubricants at the Quillig
Energy Corporation. These shortcomings
matter because the lack of complete
information on these inventories prevented us
from concluding on whether they were
accurately recorded and valued. The second
issue involves the Petroleum Products Division,
which required action by the government and
the legislature to resolve issues with authorized
limits for its two funds.

On another matter, in *22-23, the government
implemented a new accounting standard for
asset retirement obligations, or AROs. AROs
are legal obligations for physical assets that
will cost money to deal with when they stop
being used. For example, the government could
incur costs in the future to clean up buildings
that contain asbestos.

We noted issues relating to AROs. The new
standard is complex, and the government and
some territorial corporations had difficulty
implementing it. As a result, both the Qullig
Energy Corporation and the Nunavut Housing
Corporation missed their statutory financial
reporting deadlines. This in turn delayed the
government’s consolidation process. We would
also like to remind the Committee about the
issue relating to AROs in the financial
statements of the Nunavut Development
Corporation that we brought to your attention
in last year’s hearing. In our ‘22-23
independent auditor’s report on the
corporation’s financial statements, we noted
that the corporation had not done the required
analysis to identify future AROs.

Finally, as we highlighted to the Committee last
year, we continue to notice that certain
government departments and territorial
corporations have experienced high levels of
employee turnover and vacancies in key
positions. The high level of vacancies
inherently increases the risk of errors in
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financial reporting because it can lead to

deficiencies in the internal control environment.

We again encourage the Committee to study
this situation and ask the government about its
recruitment strategy.

| would like to thank the Deputy Minister of
Finance, the comptroller general, their staff,
and the staff of the departments and territorial
corporations who were involved in preparing
the government’s financial statements. We
appreciate their effort and collaboration.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening
remarks. We would be pleased to answer any
questions the Committee may have. Nakurmiik.
Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Miller. I'll allow
the government to proceed with their opening
comments. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Good afternoon and thank you for
inviting us to appear before the Committee for
the review of the 2022-23 Public Accounts of
the Government of Nunavut.

With me today from the Department of Finance
is our Comptroller General, Ibrahim Suleiman;
from the Department of Environment, we have
Michele LeBlanc-Havard, Director of
Environmental Protection, and James Elliott,
Environmental Liabilities Project Manager.
Also appearing with us today is Nathaniel
Hutchinson, the Director of the Petroleum
Products Division, and the Qullig Energy
Corporation’s President, Ernest Douglas.

Before discussing the public accounts, | would
like to address their delayed tabling. The
Department of Finance was unable to table the
2022-23 Public Accounts by the December 31
deadline due to a delay in the completion of the
Petroleum Products Division’s annual audit.
The Petroleum Products Division’s audit was
negatively affected by staff vacancies in
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corporate services positions which are critical
to the audit process. As a result, the external
auditor was unable to complete the audit within
the initial timelines, ultimately leading to the
Department of Finance being unable to
complete its consolidation of the public
accounts by December 31.

This delay was highlighted in the independent
auditor’s report provided by the Auditor
General of Canada. The Government of
Nunavut received a clean audit opinion in
respect to the consolidated financial statements
but received a qualified opinion relating to
compliance with the Nunavut Act and the
Financial Administration Act.

| am pleased to report that the Petroleum
Products Division’s audit was completed in late
February 2024, and subsequently, the
Government of Nunavut’s Public Accounts
were tabled in May 2024. | would like to thank
Members of the Legislative Assembly for their
patience and understanding as we worked to
complete the public accounts in spring 2024.

| would also like to mention that the 2022-23
Public Accounts are the first iteration to feature
the new public accounting standard, PS 3280,
related to asset retirement obligations. This new
accounting standard requires us to recognize
the costs associated with meeting the legal
obligation to remove contaminates, such as lead
and asbestos, from Government of Nunavut
buildings upon their permanent removal from
service. The standard also requires that these
removal costs be expensed over the life of the
asset rather than at its disposal or demolition.
For 2022-23, the Government of Nunavut
recognized an estimated $173 million in asset
retirement obligations.

With that, 1 would now like to share some
notable highlights from the 2022-23 Public
Accounts that | think may be of interest to
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Members of the Committee and Nunavummiut
in general.

Overview of Financial Results for 2022-23

In 2022-23 the Government of Nunavut’s

financial assets increased by $195.1 million to a

total of $2.03 billion. Net financial assets also

increased by $152.3 million to a total of $527.6

million.

Government of Nunavut revenue was $2.93
billion and Government of Nunavut expenses
were valued at $2.77 billion, which led to an
operating surplus of $167.3 million.

This $167.3 million surplus, when combined
with surpluses from previous years, resulted in
an accumulated surplus of $3.35 billion. Much
of the accumulated surplus is made up of $2.7
billion of tangible capital assets used by the
Government of Nunavut for the delivery of
goods and services to Nunavummiut.

In 2022-23 actual revenue was $94.6 million
higher than budgeted and represented a 4.2
percent increase from the previous year. This
increase was slightly lower than the five-year
average in revenue growth, however, which is
4.5 percent.

The Government of Nunavut’s own source
revenues increased by 15.1 percent, or $70.7
million, compared to the previous year. These
increases were driven primarily by increased
petroleum sales, increases in investment
income and other income.

Chairman: Sorry, Mr. Young. I’m just going
to interrupt you for one moment; if you could
please slow your speech down a little bit.
Thank you. Please proceed.

Mr. Young: Over the same time frame,
expenses grew by 8.4 percent, or $213.9
million, compared to last year and were $35.6
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million higher than budgeted. This represents a
sizeable increase over the five-year average
growth in expenses, which is 4.7 percent.

The majority of increased expenses came from
four departments, including:

1. Community and Government Services,
which had $89.9 million in increased
expenses due to increased resourcing of the
municipality funding program and
increased operating costs;

2. Health, which had $41.9 million in
increased expenses, resulting from an
increased population requiring medical
services and inflationary pressures which
drove up the price of commaodities and
equipment;

3. Finance, which had $28.7 million in
increased expenses primarily to interest
costs, the implementation of the Enterprise
Resource Planning software costs and
liquor product costs; and

4. Nunavut Housing Corporation, which had
$16.1 million in increased expenses due
mainly to high energy prices.

These increased Government of Nunavut
expenses were somewhat offset by decreased
spending by the departments of Economic
Development and Transportation and
Education.

Across the Government of Nunavut, spending
on goods and services was $1.4 billion and
compensation and benefits cost were $832
million, for a combined $2.27 billion, equalling
82.1 percent of all Government of Nunavut
expenses in 2022-23. In the same year, the
Government of Nunavut also spent $162.8
million on capital infrastructure improvements
and additions.
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Future Outlook, Risks and Uncertainties

The Government of Nunavut’s debt levels are
relatively low and stable. Government
borrowing was at $404.3 million at year-end,
leaving $347.7 million of borrowing capacity
available under the $750 million authorized
limit. Both of these indicators are expected to
have a positive impact on the Government of
Nunavut’s financials. Despite this, the
Government of Nunavut will face some
challenges.

The Government of Nunavut remains highly
reliant on funding from the Government of
Canada, with approximately 81.6 percent of its
2023 revenue coming from the federal
government. This percentage is down from the
previous year, however, in which Government
of Canada funding accounted for 83.3 percent
of the Government of Nunavut’s revenue.
Most Canadian jurisdictions generate their
revenue primarily through taxation. In
Nunavut, however, personal, corporate and
other taxes accounted for only 27.8 percent, or
$150.4 million, of total consolidated own-
source revenue in 2023.

In 2023 personal income tax revenue was down
by 32.6 percent, or $13.5 million, from 2022. A
higher-than-average unemployment rate will
continue to remain a barrier to increasing
personal income tax revenue in the territory.

Like many jurisdictions across Canada, the
Government of Nunavut continues to face
challenges with rising costs that results in
spending more year over year on programs and
services on a per capita basis. While Nunavut’s
population has grown on average by 1.1 percent
per year, per capita revenue and expenses have
increased by an average of 3.4 percent and 3.6
percent respectively over a five-year period.
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Finally, our capital assets are getting older,
increasing the need for repair, maintenance and
replacement costs in the future.

The Government of Nunavut continues to make
infrastructure improvements a priority;
however, in 2022-23, $162.8 million was spent
on capital assets, which is lower than the $208
million spent on average over the last five
years. In addition to this, infrastructure
investments have become considerably more
expensive since the pandemic, meaning the
Government of Nunavut is seeing less impact
from each dollar spent.

The Government of Nunavut continues to take
action to plan for, mitigate, and manage the
potential impacts of these challenges, including
through efforts to grow the tax base, provide
support to residents and businesses, and invest
in capital assets.

Closing Remarks

I would like to acknowledge the work of our
financial reporting team, as well as the work of
the corporate services finance teams from
across the government who contributed to the
development of the 2022-23 Public Accounts.

| welcome any questions from Members of the
Committee. Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Young. Do any
Committee Members have comments to the
opening comments? Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
Good afternoon, colleagues, officials, and those
joining our hearing virtually. Representatives
from the OAG, Office of the Auditor General,
tunngasugit. Welcome, everybody, to our
second review of the public accounts.

Before | begin, | would like to congratulate our
new Deputy Minister of Finance and our new
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comptroller general on their recent
appointments. For the record, | would like to
state that | have had full confidence in your
previous roles and | wish you both luck as you
oversee the government’s coffers and assist the
cabinet with fulfilling their fiduciary
responsibilities.

| would like to remind the public and Members
of the importance of this exercise. The Public
Accounts is a key government accountability
document that can help understand the results
of the government’s financial transactions and
supports us as Members of the Legislative
Assembly contribute to the oversight of the
government as well as promotes transparency
and encourages good financial management.

The fiscal year that ended March 31, 2023
which we will be reviewing, the Government of
Nunavut had revenues of $2.9 billion, with
expenses in excess of $2.7 billion, leaving a
surplus of $167 million, or roughly 5 percent.
As was noted, this was the very first year that
the Government of Nunavut had complied with
the new accounting standards with regard to
asset retirement obligation, which saw an
additional $173 million in expenses and
liabilities added to the books. | would like to
note that this year’s $160 million surplus was
much lower than last year’s 267 million, but if
it was not for the asset retirement obligation,
the surplus would be a new record as well.

As everyone knows, being in deficit is bad, but
given the time value of money most people
don’t know that having significant surpluses
can be equally as bad. Continuous surpluses
have left to the Government of Nunavut in a
strong financial position and are an indicator of
root problems. | believe that the Government of
Nunavut’s surpluses are mainly contributed to
two major factors, one being delays in capital
projects, and two, unspent O&M program
funding. I encourage our new Deputy Minister
of Finance and our new Comptroller General to
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keep these matters in mind as you lead the
financial management of the Government of
Nunavut leading forward.

I would now like to continue to highlight some
of the topics that | would like to continue that
we discussed last year, such as the enhanced
disclosure of contingent liabilities,
enhancement of in-year reporting, enhanced
reporting on tangible capital assets that are at or
beyond their estimated useful life, and cash
management, treasury strategy, and working
capital requirements.

In addition I would like to touch upon some
additional areas, such as the timeliness of
tabling of the Public Accounts and the year-end
process; sustainability reporting, such as
environmental, social and corporate
governance, capital carryovers and capital
capacity.

Some anomalies that | have noticed that |
would like to dig into today are the reduction in
staff housing revenues, which is the first I’ve
ever seen; reduction in grants and contribution
spending; reduction in personal income tax
revenues; and the asset retirement obligations
when assets are surplused.

I would just also like to say thank you to all of
the departments, corporate services, the
managers, the finance teams as well as all of
the program managers that assist the finance
teams in completing the year-end process.
That’s very lengthy and time consuming and |
just want thank everybody for all the hard work
that was put into the Public Accounts. Thank
you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you, Mr. Lightstone. Any
other comments to the opening comments?
Seeing none, I’ll open the floor to questions.
I’ll give committee members a moment to go to
their information. Please acknowledge the chair
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when you’re ready to begin. Nobody wants to
lead the foray? Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | guess
I would like to start off with a very open
question. As sort of an exercise of reviewing
Public Accounts | would like to ask the
Government of Nunavut to respond on any
progress that has been made on
recommendations from last year’s review.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you for the question. Sorry
for the delay. So we had responded to the report
from last year. | believe we’ve answered all the
questions. If there is anything in there
unsatisfactory, I will be happy to elaborate
further. We’ve also been successful in
implementing all of the new standards that
come about this year, specifically the one
mentioned in the opening comments. And we
are on track to table on time for this current
fiscal year. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you
for your response. So one of the issues that |
raised -- one of the concerns that | raised last
year was the need to expand upon the
Government of Nunavut’s contingent liabilities
in the notes to the financial statements and last
year | had indicated that, well, basically 1’1l
start off by describing what a contingent
liability is in this definition, and that is a
contingent liability is basically when an
individual takes the Government of Nunavut to
court, the government must then | guess
account for the potential liability in the event
the case is lost.

So the reason why | brought this up is because
the contingent liabilities have risen significant,
exponentially over the last few years, from |
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think 15 million to 130 million dollars, and in
the government’s response to the committee
last year it was under the advice of the
Department of Justice not to enhance disclosure
or information under this section.

| understand the rationale for the Department of
Justice’s recommendation not to provide
further information, to protect the Government
of Nunavut, but aside from giving all the
information identifying each case and each
value, would the government consider
providing the breakdown of cases per category?
| believe there’s five or seven different
categories of litigation. Would the government
consider providing just figures of a number of
contingencies by category? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. We will have to go back
and look at the list. We will work with the
Department of Justice and see if there’s any
way we can provide more information without
giving away too much sensitive information.
Part of the issue, just so all the listeners are
aware, is that a lot of the contingent liabilities
that we record have to do with whether or not
we think we’re in a strong position and how
much we might have to pay out if we were to
lose those challenges. The obvious problem
with giving that information out is that it shows
our position publicly to someone who might be
challenging us in court.

With respect to the number or the total value of
the contingent liability growing, I can confirm
that that is not necessarily reflective of the
volume of challenges. There are some large
ones in there that are really skewing the total
pot, and once those are dealt with I suspect that
it will return to levels that we’ve seen in the
past. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.
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Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you,
Deputy Minister. I would like to move on to my
next topic. Last year | had asked questions with
regard to the bank balance and working capital
requirements for the Government of Nunavut,
and the Deputy Minister had indicated that the
Department of Finance was working on a
treasury strategy. | think that is a very effective
means every ensuring financial responsibility in
ensuring that we have the right amount in the
bank, not too much, not too little.

Would the Deputy Minister be able to provide
an update to the committee on any progress
made in that area? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you again for the question. Yes, the previous
Deputy Minister did answer that question to say
that we are working on a treasury strategy. |
can confirm today that we did not have the
strategy fully completed. We don’t have it
completed now, but we were in the last year
able to have a policy approved. The first step
was to create the policy that sets the parameters
and the strategy is our next step, which we are
actively working on now, which works within
those parameters in the policy.

We are, however, looking pretty closely at our
bank balance on a regular basis to make sure
even in the absence that ever strategy that we
do have the cash available to meet our needs.
You may notice in the financial statements that
our cash balance was lower than it had been in
previous years. That is not because we don’t
have money, that is because we were taking
advantage of very high interest rates coming
out of the pandemic and we had a lot looked
away in investments that were quite lucrative.

Maybe at the same time I’ll point to my
opening comments, when we mention our other
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income was higher. That other income is
mostly made up of investment income that we
made as a result of investing that extra cash, so

we have been very closely monitoring it and we

forecast our needs based on priorities we know

are coming. And if there are cash needs coming

we will certainly keep more available. But we

hope to have that strategy completed in the next

year. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you,

Deputy Minister. I’m glad to hear that. | would

like to move on to the next topic, and that is last
year there was some discussion about our aging

infrastructure and the need to enhance
disclosure of fully amortized assets. Would the
Deputy Minister be able to provide an update
on progress made in that area? Thank you,
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Our

comptroller Mr. Suleiman next to me is actively

engaged in that. | would like to pass that to
him, if you wouldn’t mind.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Suleiman.

Mr. Suleiman: In our disclosures for tangible
capital assets we follow the PSAS
requirements. We outline the amortization,
work in progress that has gone into it, as well
as any additions. And we follow the standards

when it comes to disclosures. Working with the

OAG we ensure that all the public information
that’s required to be disclosed is disclosed and
shared in those Public Accounts. Thank you,
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you for that response,

Mr. Suleiman. | agree with your comments that
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the GN is meeting the minimum requirements
under the Public Sector Accounting Standards
when it comes to capital assets and disclosure
of them, but the concern was more along the
lines of our aging infrastructure and needing to
provide more information how much of our
needs is beyond its estimated useful life. That
was the intent of requesting enhanced
disclosure with tangible capital assets. | would
just like to put forward a request again that the
Department of Finance works with departments
and territorial corporations to highlight that
fact.

I’ve seen the workbooks with the tangible
capital asset workbooks. Every building, every
asset has its own line and date of construction,
renovation and asset value. Its all there, and
what I’m quite concerned about is the amount
of assets on NHC’s books that have a net zero
book value, which really means that they are in
desperate need of replacement.

I’m highlighting the benefit from our end and
the public’s end every seeing this type of
information enhancing the tangible capital
assets with net zero book value, so | would ask
if the department would consider this request.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | have two
parts, two answers to this, a two-part answer to
this. I would first of all point you to page 13 of
the Public Accounts. There’s a table that shows
the total net book value of tangible capital
assets and it’s not super segregated. You
mentioned NHC versus others. We don’t have
that level of detail in here, but our territorial
corporations manage their own and Community
and Government Services manages the TCAs,
the tangible assets for the core government. We
can work with them to see if there’s a better, a
more fulsome we can take to sharing that
information.
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| don’t know if it will make it into the actual
Public Accounts, but there may be another
forum that we can share that information with
you. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you
for the response. | would like to move on to my
next topic and that’s the timeliness of tabling
the Public Accounts. There has been a lot of
discussion about the enterprise resource
planning project that’s being led by the
Department of Finance, the ERP project, and |
was wondering what the Department of Finance
has planned in -- I would like to ask how the
Department of Finance envisions this new ERP
system enhancing the year-end reporting
process and when we can see these benefits
kick in. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you again for the question. We envision this
helping us with the year end in many ways. But
to sum it up, we essentially will have more
information readily available. The new program
replaces our current financial software, which
we’ve been using for 25 years, and | believe
NWT used it even before that so it’s quite old.
The reports that come out of that are hard to
use. They are not easy to manipulate. The new
software should be a lot more user friendly. We
should be able to get a lot more information
without manipulating it again manually, after
we pull it out. Even things like leave and
attendance will now be electronically available
in an instant, exactly what’s available today
rather than lengthy reconciliations happening
after year-end to tally up and send in to the
comptroller general’s office.

We envision this happening, it will probably be
two year ends before it’s really fully used for
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the public accounts, but we are certainly
moving in the right direction. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Again I
appreciate the response. The year-end process
the GN currently utilizes is very lengthy, a
three month process with several deadlines
from expense vouchers to journal vouchers. I’'m
glad to see that this will reduce the manual
workload for finance staff across the GN, and |
hope that will be able to roll out financial
reporting within the estimated two-year time
frame.

I would like to move on to my next question, or
topic, and that is capital carryovers. So the
Government of Nunavut has been increasing
the capital budget year over year for a number
of years now, which is good. We need the
investment in infrastructure. However, as the
Deputy Minister indicated in his opening
comments, the costs continue to grow, the time
value of money diminishes over time. So when
$100 million is sitting in the bank due to
delayed capital projects, we’re actually losing
money.

So with our record breaking capital budgets
came the record breaking capital carryovers.
Has the Department of Finance recognized this
as an issue, and how has the Government of
Nunavut come together to try and overcome
this issue? Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. We absolutely recognize
this is an issue. It’s an issue in very real terms
but it’s also an issue for us for budgeting and
forecasting. We know that the amount that we
have approved in here in the House for the
capital plan is not what’s going to be spent this
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year. It will be spent eventually, but cash flow
is a tricky, is a difficult part when we don’t
know how much we’ll be spending each year.

We have worked very closely with the
Department of Community and Government
Services to improve cash flows so that the
money is allocated to the correct years.
However, we still see issues. Some of those
issues are going to be unavoidable because we
are forecasting multi-years on projects which
require Sea Lift and a lot of other difficult
logistics in the north. We have looked at a lot
of parts of our process with Community and
Government Services and with some of the
other departments to try and smooth out the
process. There’s a fine balance between
approving money too early so that the Sea Lift
is achievable to approving too early and then
the cost estimates are out the window because
costs are changing so quickly.

Chairman: Please continue, Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Sorry for the delay. One thing we
had been doing, and | mentioned it in the
response to a question you asked earlier is this
delay allows more cash to be in the bank and
we have been investing that, so that does offset
the time cost of money that you mentioned. So
that is one thing this we’re doing.

But I also know that the Department of
Community and Government Services has
engaged a contractor to look at the whole
process top to bottom, and we’ve been reaching
out to our colleagues in some of the other
territories who face the same northern
challenges to understand what they’re doing
and we hope to make any small improvements
we can to help with this process.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you,
Deputy Minister. | appreciate your comments.
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I’m glad that this is on the radar and
discussions are occurring with CGS and CGS is
working with the contractor to try and identify
some of the issues here.

When it comes to capital expenditures in this
fiscal year, we have a total of $192 million in
actual capital dollars spent. Is the Department
of Finance aware of what the total capital
capacity is? Is this 197 million the most the GN
has ever been able to spend in capital dollars?
Just curious if this is an average amount. Thank
you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you again for the question. | think I mentioned
in the opening comments here that the amount
we spent in capital in 2022-23 is slightly slower
than the average of the previous few years. It is
growing from the time before that. | can say
that our capital plan is roughly $200 million
about five or six years ago, and now we are
pushing $315 million or so in a year so because
of that we are building more but we’re also
carrying more forward. Knowing that a lot is
carrying forward we have a little bit more room
to put a little more in the plan and still have that
fiscal room, knowing it is what we spent. But
we are slightly lower in spending in 2022-23
than we have been in the last few years. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you,
Deputy Minister. I would like to move on to my
next question, topic. One of the anomalies that
I’ve identified when reviewing the Public
Accounts was the revenues generated from staff
housing, which actually saw a decrease, which

| believe is the first time I’ve ever seen a
reduction in staff housing revenue considering
that our staff housing portfolio seems to
increase year over year.
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I would like to ask if the Department of
Finance has identified that anomaly and
whether or not there’s any rationale behind it.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Yes, we
have. The Nunavut Housing Corporation
manages that portfolio, so we had to go to them
and ask questions because we don’t have a
direct line of sight into the program. However,
what they told us was on average in 2022-23
there was about 116 less units occupied
throughout the year. That of course goes up and
down throughout the year and you can’t just
take one step at a time. But they told us their
occupancy was 116 units lower throughout the
year than it has been in the previous year. | do
not have a reason why. | can’t explain the
program but we committed to talking with them
to come back with some rationale for you.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Chair. Thank you,
Deputy Minister. | appreciate your
commitment. It’s very surprising to see the
reduction in staff housing revenues, given our
shortage in staff housing. When you’re in
discussions with Nunavut Housing Corporation
would you be able to determine the average
monthly vacancy for staff housing units? |
mean, 167, that’s a good figure for a snapshot,
but it would be great if the committee could see
the average monthly staff housing vacancy.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you again for the question. | can commit to
talking to the corporation about it. I don’t know
what information they have so I can’t commit

Ao B APN®SCAALYMC o D¢
LRLY*M* ¢ AtL> NNGHCDS/ Dy Do s
>bcLL.o¢ 5Go. CLedd AYPNseCn/LyNe
LRLPN=HNE AccPSHN oacC LLLSIN™NE,

CAY AYPR®CAZLYNE AN ASIN
NNGSECP>SbI DL D>HCC®IC 0a D¢ LRLPd* of
QLLH*EC CAbI ASINE HLe bd® o

D dNIraC a*LeC>heCe<c NNbNJ?
sdyal®, Ab/RPCSb,

Ab/<RPCS (OLANJO): Sdveal™. C Y.

L% (ORNNNJC): Sdveal™, ASYRDCS. L5
sdytal® JAdNPLYo. 6 No<PeC

o D>PNbT<PC /<o >G5 ¢

Do SedNNo<PCNPedS Sb>dhAc DS HNPIC PY<lo
Nedc PPegtNeg Ay <Sb®DJC. sdyeal®,
AP/RPCSe,

Ab/XPCSe (OLANJO): Sdy®al™. MC c ASYIe

CASYIe OLNNNUC): Sdveal™®, AbYRPCS, L
sdbtal® FoCP>< D*Ned. CA*a ASINNYD>Ise
NOOLLSeRSC > gL Do gedC> Ha

H<tLc bd*0¢ CAL SboAc*L<RC
NOLLONSCDESLE A JGY5 < DR 5% gC
H<Lc bd® of. AL 5SHeC®<C HYtLe bde
oA H<C $300-Tc<*DSo<%DC CALC
APcdN0C SGL®I? SdL ™, AbYRPCSe,

Ab/RPCSe (ONANJO): Sdyal™®. MC L™,

Lo OLANNJC): Sdb®al™, Ab/RDCS®. A, A<,
NoLLSeLSeC > > a5e<C KbdDIA%Q GLSeCDC,
Sgbeql, Ab/RPCS®,

Ab/QPCSe (ONANJO): Sdy*al®. dNSdNo, M
>P8D,

>pvD (OLANJO): Sdbeal™, AbY/RP>CSe,

> ndb%®b>LOIP 5, PY<da CRaPbL
sdd<lae. D=L SdYPb Ab%ar <L CAbd]
A%ba AL HDSHEC®ILLC D 5MIC NPEHJ
sdytal << CAbI] P AAC DSeDC, <o
Abdd T A*UNC oCNHILLC AP7nseI< 5L C
Sdé<la_sb.

26




to coming back to anything specific but I will
get whatever we can find. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you, Deputy Minister. |
appreciate that. Now | would like to move on to
another topic and assets the asset retirement
obligation that the GN had recorded in the
books last year. So as this -- as we’re talking
about obligation is public sector impacts on
public governments including municipalities,
I’m curious what happens to that asset
retirement obligation that the GN records on
the books to an asset that is surplused and has
been given, handed over to a municipality.
Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. Before any asset will
transfer either a disposal or transfer to another
entity we would do an environmental
assessment and remediate before we make that
transfer or disposal. Thank you for your
question.

Chairman: Mr. Lightstone.

Mr. Lightstone: Thank you. Thank you,
Deputy Minister. If the asset has been
remediated and then transferred over to a
municipality that would mean that they would
not have to record their own asset retirement
obligation since it has already been remediated?
| want to confirm. I’m worried that the
municipality is going to get this brand new
building and they are all excited about it, but
then they find out they have to record a $3
million dollar asset retirement obligation that
puts them in a deficit. Thank you, Chair.

Chairman: Mr. Young.
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Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Yes, that’s
correct. If it’s already been remediated they
will not have to record any obligation. Thank
you.

Chairman: Thank you. Next name | have on
my list, Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. As you
know | was supposed to be on a flight, but
luckily I’m here today so I’ll make good use of
my time.

I would just like to welcome everybody and
acknowledge the work that has been done
leading up to today’s hearing and how much |
appreciate that as well as, | don’t know if
people can see on TV, but we have some new
wall hangings in here right now so I’m really
happy to be back in chambers and see some
nice changes.

Mr. Chair, | asked some questions about
contaminated sites last year and | would just
like to follow up on those questions. This is to
the Government of Nunavut. The Government
of Nunavut’s contaminated sites policy
indicates on page 3 the contaminated sites
liabilities working group consists of
representatives from the departments of
Community and Government Services,
Economic Development and Transportation,
Environment, Finance, Health, Justice the
Nunavut Housing Corporation and the Qulliq
Energy Corporation.

| recall last year the witness, Ms. LeBlanc-
Havard was able to actually name the members
of that working group and indicated at that time
that there were two vacancies that -- and that
there were not members from Justice and
Nunavut Housing Corporation. | would just like
to get an update today, Mr. Chair, as to who the
current members of that working group are.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Chairman: Thank you. I’m waiting to see
some finger pointing. | believe Mr. Elliott will
be responding to the question. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. In terms of
representatives, there’s myself from the
Department of Environment; from CGS we
have representatives from the Director of
Planning and Lands, as well as as-needed from
their Technical Services Division, and the
Petroleum Products Division when they think
their involvement is necessary; the Director of
Transportation from Economic Development
and Transportation; the territorial manager for
environmental health from the Department of
Health; Qulliq Energy Corporation, | think
there’s a bit of staff turnover but they have
somebody that will be representing them on the
working group. | just think that representative
is changing right now; we do have a
representative from Justice as well as now; and
the representative from the Nunavut Housing
Corporation is still vacant at this time. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’m
curious about how Inuit Qaujimajatugangit is
brought into the discussion about contaminated
sites through this working group. If I could hear
a bit about that, because what we know is that
the way that Inuit use the land and use animals
and harvest is extremely important information
when it comes to contaminated sites. Thank
you Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The inception for the Contaminated Sites
Working Group and the policy is based on 1Q
principles and you’re correct in stating that the
use of the land and the importance of
harvesting and the animals is primary to
protection of the environment.
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When the Contaminated Sites Working Group
is executing their duties and determining
responsibility and also risk, we do it through
the lens of ensuring that both the environment
is considered high risk and the health of the
people are considered high risk. So anything
that could potentially impact the environment
or human health is weighted more heavily. So
that’s one example of how we incorporation 1Q
principles, by focussing on the land and the
people.

The consensus is really important in our work
in the Contaminated Sites Working Group,
ensuring that we come to decisions and
solutions together.

As | mentioned before the risk assessments are
done to ensure that we’re identifying the dollar
figures for remediation and where those risks
fall into place is very important, and we look at
pathways to wildlife and to human health.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’m still
not really clear on how Inuit are participating
and consulted and informing the work of this
working group, so if I could get a little bit more
information about that | would appreciate it.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
The membership on the working group is open
to the Government of Nunavut departments and
representation. At this time I don’t believe there
is any Inuit representation on the working
group. That’s not to say there’s any restriction
or opposition to having Inuit on the working
group, it’s just been the unfortunate situation
that the representation from the departments
has not been Inuit in nature. So this is
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something that we’re it open to and we’re
aware that there’s a gap, and we are continuing
from the Department of Environment’s
perspective to work with our human resources
to ensure that we’re hiring Inuit.

For instance, right now in our department in
Mr. Elliott’s program he is the only person
dealing with the liabilities for the Government
of Nunavut, and we are leading that program
but we have recently started to staff up, so
that’s really encouraging and we’ve been
staffing up with Inuit. So we’re training people
to work with Mr. Elliott on contaminated sites
so that they can help to represent the
Department of Environment in that work.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair and thank
you for that response. Years ago there used to
be a group called Nigiit Avatittinni which was a
working group that was made up of individuals
and stakeholders from Inuit organizations to
federal and territorial governments. | think one
iteration of that working group name was might
have been -- might have actually had the word
“contaminants” in it, and |1 wonder if there’s
still a working group of people that are brought
together to discuss the environment and food
and animals related to the environment such as
Nigiit Avatittinni. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
I’m not entirely sure of the working group that
you’re mentioning. | think that the one that we
are most familiar with is the Northern
Contaminants Program. Is that the one you’re
referencing? And yes, we do work with them
closely. You’re right, they are concerned with
long-range contaminations, so contaminations
contamination coming from not Nunavut and
how it impacts the wildlife, specifically country
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food. But we do have representation from the
Department of Environment. Mr. Elliott is on
that working group. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. I don’t know why
the Northern Contaminants Program escaped
my brain at that moment. | know they were
really important funders for a project that |
worked on.

The reason that | ask about that working group
is because what I’m hearing is that there aren’t
necessarily Inuit involved through their work or
otherwise on this Contaminated Sites Working
Group, and there isn’t a representative that
seems to be there with specific knowledge
about Inuit Qaujimajatugangit and I think it’s
really important to have that representation,
that voice, that knowledge on that working
group, and so | wonder if there’s any way, if
there can be any thought put into expanding
that working group to ensure that there is those
knowledge, skills and very important abilities
to give input into how the Government of
Nunavut approaches contaminated sites with its
partners. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you, Mr. Chair,
and | would like to thank you for the suggestion
and the recommendation. That’s not something
that’s lost on the Department of Environment
for sure. We’ll definitely take that and work
towards having better representation with
respect to 1Q and Inuit traditional knowledge.
Thank you.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. | appreciate that.
Can we just get an indication of how often that
working group met this year or this past year.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. That
working group meets between every one to two
months. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and
thank you, Mr. Elliott. The Government of
Nunavut’s contaminated sites policy indicates
on page 5 that the Department of Finance is the
Government of Nunavut’s primary point of
contact with the Office of the Auditor General
of Canada, and this involves coordinating the
Government of Nunavut’s response to requests
for information from the Office of the Auditor
General and reviewing the Government of
Nunavut’s contaminated sites inventory
annually to ensure the Government of
Nunavut’s Public Accounts are prepared in
accordance with PS3260.

| would just like to know on how many times
the department has met with the Office of the
Auditor General over the past 12 months to
discuss this issue. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair and thank
you for the question. To my knowledge we
haven’t had any meetings specifically on this
topic but it does come up through other
meetings. We’ve had some turnover over the
last year but to our knowledge we met to talk
about this two or three times. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster, would you like me
to direct that question to the Office of the
Auditor General staff? Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Similar
response to what the Deputy Minister has
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provided, the topic of contaminated sites is part
of our questions in terms of determining the
allotted effort in the consolidated financial
statements for the Government of Nunavut and
in terms of that information is provided. But in
terms specifically to the member’s question,
not specifically. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you for that. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. | guess you know
I’1l just throw a question out there, then. If it’s a
requirement and it’s not happening, is it
because it’s not needed or is it because of
human resource issues? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you for the
question. | think it’s important to make a
distinction here. While we may not have
specific formalized meetings and those occur
less frequently with a large group, our
department is in communication with the
Department of Finance very regularly so a lot
of work goes on behind the scenes before we
call a formal meeting and a lot of back and
forth questions between our department and the
Department of Finance. So while those
formalized meetings may not occur as often,
the communication is very consistent. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that. During the
Legislative Assembly’s sitting on June 1, 2023,
MLAs were informed that responsibility for
contamination as well as associated financial
liability at each site is determined on a case-by-
case basis. The responsibility for contamination
of a given site may be shared amongst two or
more parties. The Government of Nunavut will
pursue further discussions with the Government
of Canada, the government of the Northwest
Territories and other parties as required to
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ensure the necessary resources are secured for
appropriate risk management measures at each
contaminated site.

And | would just like to know, as of today,
what is the Government of Canada’s position
regarding this issue? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. | can’t speak on behalf of
the Government of Canada, of course, but I can
say that through the devolution process there
was a lot of discussion about contaminated sites
and who owns them to make sure that it’s
cleaned up before devolution occurs in 2027.

My understanding from the devolution working
group is that they’ve got a pretty good
inventory of that. Of course they don’t know
about every site that might be contaminated,
but the ones that we do know about have been
allocated to the rightful owner because the
Government of Nunavut uses a “polluter pays”
policy and allocates ownership on the
responsibility in that way.

There’s also a process through delusion that
states that if a contaminated site is found after
devolution or that wasn’t identified at the time
the devolution agreement was signed, then
there is a process to assign that to the rightful
owner. So | can’t speak on their stance, but |
can say that our government has been working
closely with the Government of Canada on
these sites. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. That
evolves perfectly into my next question, to
what extent the final Nunavut Lands and
Resources Devolution Agreement has on --
what’s the expected impact on the
contaminated sites policy which indicates on
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page 9 that the policy will be effective from the
date of signature and will terminate upon the
devolving of administration and control of
public land and rights in respect of waters in
Nunavut to the Commissioner of Nunavut six
months prior to the date of transfer. A review of
this policy will be initiated with the explicit
goal of amending it to address the changes
concomitant with the transfer of responsibilities
to the Commissioner and the management of
impacted sites, as described in the Nunavut
Lands and Resources Devolution Agreement.

And as we know, as | said, that Lands and
Resource Devolution Agreement was signed in
January this year and one would expect that
there could be some significant changes in that
policy because of that signature. So | would
just like an update on that, please. Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. As the
member is correct to point out, that policy will
sunset prior to devolution, the transfer of lands,
and it will be updated to account for those new
scenarios.

At this time we’re not certain what that will
look like. Under the devolution agreement there
IS a separate working group that looks at the
excluded and impacted sites and that deals
specifically with the impacted or contaminated
sites listed within the devolution agreement and
as we move closer to the transfer there will be
more dialogue between the Government of
Nunavut’s contaminated sites and liabilities
working group, and the Excluded and Impacted
Sites Working Group under the devolution
agreement to make sure that the policy will
account for those new sites and potentially new
responsibilities as well. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’ll just
go back to that really important participation of
Inuit that have knowledge of these
contaminated sites and the ongoing impact on
our daily lived lives when it comes to land use
and harvesting. I’m still not convinced that
though our public servants are committed to
ensuring that Inuit Qaujimajatugangit is part of
their daily work lives, that knowledge that
comes directly from hunters and harvesters and
families is really important.

| just want to stress that we need to make sure
that we figure out a way that is organized and
committed to ensuring that those voices are
heard and reflected in the development or
redevelopment of any policy and especially one
such as important as the contaminated sites

policy.

I’ll just move on to the number of sites that we
know of. Part B of appendix 4 of the Nunavut
Lands and Resources Devolution Agreement
was approximately 150 sites quoted as
requiring remediation, and I’m wondering what
the estimated total cost is to remediate all of
these sites and of course an idea of who se
costs, who will bear those costs and when.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Young.
Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: My apologies. Mr. Elliott, go
ahead, please.

Mr. Elliott: Under the Devolution Agreement,
the list of Part B sites are the responsibility of
the Government of Canada, and they will be
remediating those sites before they are
transferred over to the Government of Nunavut.
Upon remediation they will be transferred to
another list under the Devolution Agreement. |
believe it’s Part C. And so we are unaware of
the cost to remediation those sites, however the
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intention is that the Government of Nunavut
will not be taking on the cost to remediate those
sites. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster, if you
allow me, when | look at the Contaminated
Sites List, | see under Part B there’s almost
150, and then Part C another 34.

| want to get a clarification, because | can’t
imagine all of these sites will be remediated
before devolution occurs. There’s got to be
some type of a claim of ownership, or some
obligation from the Government of Canada to
continue to have obligation to remediation
those sites, even after devolution has occurred.
| would just like to get some clarification on
that. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. And there’s
a lot of sites on that list, and it’s possible that
they will not be -- and likely that they will not
be remediated by the date of transfer. But |
believe once the transfer date occurs, those sites
remain the Government of Canada’s until they
are remediated.

And | believe they are also included on the
excluded sites list as well, which is the previous
appendix. And once they are remediated, even
if after it’s after the date of the transfer, that’s
when they would get transferred to the
Government of Nunavut. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you for that clarification.
Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that, Mr. Chair,
and for that response as well. I’m still not really
clear on the timelines. Are we talking 99 years,
or are we talking five years? You know, it’s
important to those impacted communities that
these sites are cleaned up as quickly as
possible, and | would just like to have an idea
of whether or not there are timelines that are
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short in span - one to five years, five to ten
years, and so on. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’m not
certain of those timelines either. The excluded
and impacted sites working group, which was
created under the Devolution Agreement,
which is made up of the Government of
Canada, Nunavut Tunngavik Incorporated, and
the Government of Nunavut, they have more
information on that.

Although the Department of Environment does
participate in it, we are not aware of these
timelines yet. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that response,
and thank you, Mr. Chair. Just going back to
last year’s discussions as well. We talked about
the contaminated sites database, the
Government of Nunavut’s response to the
Standing Committee’s report of the review of
the 2021-22 Public Accounts indicates that one,
the activities of the contaminated sites liability
working group during the 2023-24 fiscal year
was to undertake a contaminated sites database
update. I would just like to know as of today
what’s the status of this work. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. As of now,
most of the back end updates have occurred.
There’s a couple kinks that we’re still working
out, and we’re in the process of migrating the
data over to the new format right now. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. You
know, the Government of Nunavut’s
responsibility to the Standing Committee’s
review again in 2021-22 Public Accounts
indicated that there was no detailed timeline for
making the contaminated sites database
publicly accessible. To what extent do the
contents of the database differ from the list of
contaminated sites that are included in Part B of
Appendix 4 of the Nunavut Lands and
Resources Devolution Agreement? Thank you,
Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Ellsworth: Thank you, Mr. Chair. The
contents of the database and the appendix of the
Devolution Agreement do not overlap. The
database is largely related to sites on
Commissioner’s lands, so within municipalities
and a couple other ones outside that the
government has some sort of responsibility to.

The sites listed within the Devolution
Agreement are all related to federal Crown land
outside of the municipal boundaries on lands
that the government will be getting
responsibility for.

The database contains contaminated sites on
lands which the Government of Nunavut is
already responsible for. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. The
reason this is important to me is that
communities know where contaminated sites
are, and don’t necessarily differentiate between
whose responsibility it is to take action on
remediating those sites. And to my knowledge,
there isn’t a consolidated list of contaminated
sites that communities can go to that is housed
by the Government of Nunavut.
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And | think it’s really important as a
transparency issue as well as a really valuable
tool for community members to come back to
the Government of Nunavut and indicate any
new or ignored sites that -- | suppose not new,
not just necessarily new. So it would be great to
see a consolidated list, and for that specific
database to be published.

I’1l just go back to the Auditor General,
because | know it’s really important that you’re
here with us. In April of 2024, the Office of the
Auditor General Commissioner of the
Environment and Sustainable Development
provided a report to Parliament on the subject
of contaminated sites in the North.

One of the findings of that report was that the
total financial liability for federal contaminated
sites is now over $10 billion, while only 11
percent of the total number of federal sites are
in the North over 60 percent of Canada’s total
estimated financial liability is for the
remediation of sites in the North.

And | would like to ask the office of the
Auditor General’s witnesses to what extent has
this report informed your offices’ audit of the
territorial Public Accounts, which contains
information concerning the subject of liability
for contaminated sites. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Thank you, Mr. Chair. Thank you
for the question. The Commissioner of the
Environment’s report is one that was tabled in
April of 2024. In terms of the obtaining that
type of information, our Public Accounts team
up north for the territorial Public Accounts, but
also at the federal level, which we deal with the
Public Accounts of the Government of Canada
provided that information for the
Commissioner’s report, and so therefore the
information was provided to be able to give
parliamentarians an overview of the level of
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contamination that exists up north, recognizing
that the number of sites may be low in number,
but the level in terms of dollars and the amount
of contamination exists up north is quite high,
in terms of cleaning it up, so it’s very high in
dollars. So our Public Accounts teams have
provided that information for their report.

So in terms of new information, it’s not new
information for us. We’re the ones that were
able to provide the information for the
Commissioner’s report. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you for that. Just to be
clear, did that report include all 150 sites that
are listed on the Part B of Appendix 4 in the
Devolution Agreement? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Thank you, Mr. Chair, for the
question. I do not have access right now to that
appendix, but what I can say is all the federal
sites that are listed, in terms of the information
that we have from the database from the
Government of Canada’s Public Accounts.
Several of these sites will include sites up
north, in each of the territories.

| would expect the sites that you’ve listed,
maybe for the colleagues for the Government
of Nunavut will be able to confirm those are the
federal sites that have been identified as part of
the 150, given | do not have access to that
information in the appendix. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. | suppose an
important question is whether or not the Office
of the Auditor General currently has any plans
to provide a report to material parliamentarians
and/or territorial legislators on the
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implementation of the Devolution Agreement
in the future. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. At this point, in terms of
when we conduct or determine a performance
audit, we will look at different topics of interest
from various stakeholders, Parliamentarians’
interests in terms of subject matters. We will
get at the government level other key
stakeholders, and as part of our planning
process we will be looking to that to determine
the topics of most interest.

My understanding is that the devolution
agreement was recently signed in January 2024
and the implementation will be taking place in
April of 2027. | presume, if the Legislative
Assembly has interest in this topic, for our
office to review this in terms of that, we will
definitely consider that topic in our planning
process. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thanks very much. | don’t want
to add to your plate before it actually starts to
happen, but it’s good to know that there will be
an opportunity to audit the implementation of
that agreement once it starts.

I’1l just go back to the Government of Nunavut.
The Government of Nunavut’s response to our
review on Public Accounts from 2021-22
indicates that one of the activities that the
Contaminated Sites Working Group during the
2023-24 fiscal year was to develop a
responsibility matrix, which is described as
being a tool to provide a defensible way to
accept or reject responsibility for liabilities.

I’m just wondering if we can get an update
today about the progress or status of that work.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. So the
working group is currently -- its main focus is
the development of the responsibility matrix,
and we’re anticipating having that ready by the
end of the fiscal year. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’m just
curious about how that works in terms of a
signed Devolution Agreement and the list of
sites so far, you know, how do we sign a
Devolution Agreement without coming to a
finalized decision about something as important
as that matrix related to contaminated sites.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Mr. Elliott.

Mr. Elliott: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I think
there’s an important distinction that needs to be
made between contaminated sites, or the
transfer of land that will happen with
devolution and the contaminated sites that are
on that land, and the land that is already the
responsibility of the Government of Nunavut
and those contaminated sites. Right now the
purview of the contaminated working group is
specific to the ones that are already the
Government of Nunavut’s responsibility, which
is on Commissioner’s land within the municipal
boundaries.

So this responsibility matrix is not considering
the sites that were considered through
devolution. That was done through their
negotiation process, and we are specifically
looking at sites within the municipal boundaries
that were already previously identified as
contaminated a number of years ago. Thank
you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | was
looking back on the Hansard for our
discussions last year because | do remember
discussing the impact of climate change on
contaminated sites and the potential
exacerbation of the impacts on human health as
well as wildlife and the environment, and |
couldn’t find that discussion just now. In my
brain | was already on an airplane leaving
town, so I didn’t come fully prepared with that
today, so | apologize.

However, | feel like the witnesses may recall
those discussions last year and recall that |
requested information about how these
concerns are approached and monitored. |
suppose what | would like to know today is in
the last year since we last discussed this issue,
have there been any concerns or sites that have
changed status in terms of the liabilities due to
the impact of climate change? Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you, Mr. Chair,
and thank you for the question. I think we can
all agree climate change is the lens through
which we should be looking at almost
everything we do here in Nunavut and other
places in the world, so having climate change
always at the forefront of everything that we do
with respect to environmental protection is
something we’re trying to build in, but climate
changes affects every environment. So every
natural environment, we have to be aware that
the climate impacts it. So that’s just a given. So
when we do site assessments in real time in the
environment, we are aware that the climate has
impacts on the contamination that is there, but
also the natural environment. That’s just
something that we’ve started to build in, even
in our assessments through third-party
contractors to be aware of the potential climate
change impacts. And sort of as an example,
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movement of contaminants in the environment
and how changes in the climate could impact
those. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. I think | figured out
a way to drill down a little bit on that. In the
2021-22 reports on the review of those Public
Accounts indicated that the Department of
Environment’s Climate Change Secretariat was
about to commence a third year of a GN-wide
risk and resiliency assessment, and it is stated
that this project is a direct result of
recommendations made by the Auditor General
and anticipates that the work would wrap up in
that fiscal year.

| think maybe the witness just alluded to that
work just now, and | would just like some
clarification as of today what is the status of
that work. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you for the
question. Thank you, Mr. Chair. That work, to
our knowledge, is still ongoing. We know that
they’ve made significant headway in this risk
and resiliency framework and we’ve been
representing on that particular project, but it’s
not finalized, to our knowledge at this moment.
Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. To the
Office of the Auditor General: The 2022-23
Public Accounts indicates that one of the
significant risks and uncertainties to which the
Government of Nunavut is exposed is the
unknown effect of climate change.

The Government of Nunavut’s response to the
Standing Committee’s review from 2021-22
did state that it was about to commence the
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third year of its GN-wide risk assessment based
on the Auditor General’s advice to do so, and
I’m just wondering to what extent has the
Office of the Auditor General been involved in
or consulted on that work. Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Thank you, Mr. Chair, for the
question. To my knowledge, our office has not
been consulted on a GN-wide risk and
resilience assessment. Of course if it is a
measure that has been in implemented
specifically to address one of our audit
recommendations, this could be considered in
any future follow-up work that we might do on
this topic in the future. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you. I’m happy to hear
that. Again to the Office of the Auditor
General, in 2018 your office’s report on climate
change was tabled in the Legislative Assembly,
and similar reports were considered in a
number of other Canadian legislatures at that
time, and 1’m wondering does your office plan
to undertake a follow-up report to this
Legislative Assembly on the topic of climate
change? Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. To my knowledge, this
2018 report was a collaborative audit that was
conducted with other provincial auditor
generals, so the objective was to get focus from
a Canadian-wide perspective.

In terms of determining whether a follow-up
report, we would have to engage with those
discussions with our counterparts if we would
be undergoing a collaborative effort.
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Once again, as | mentioned earlier, the topics
whether we choose an area for follow-up will
consider any requests that we get from the
legislative assemblies in terms of topics of
interest that they would like us to do. And of
course if the Legislative Assembly believes this
is one of them, | would encourage you to be
able to let us know.

Of course if there’s any other stakeholders or
other areas, it will be considered in our
planning process for our future performance
audit work. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. I’m just
wondering, to the Office of the Auditor
General, to what extent have other governments
that your office audits have been able to
quantify the risks and uncertainties of climate
change for the purposes of including a dollar
value in their Public Accounts? Thank you, Mr.
Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Miller.

Ms. Miller: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. So the quantification of
the risk and uncertainties of climate change for
the purposes of including a dollar value in the
public accounts is not currently required by
accounting standards. So I can confirm that
there’s no other territorial public accounts or at
the federal level. That’s not part of the
accounting standards. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Miller. Just
speaking from experience, in the past couple
weeks | was in a meeting with other public
account chairs across the country, and this topic
is a priority of a number of different
jurisdictions, so hopefully there will be some
momentum created from that. Ms. Brewster.
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Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. | was
actually about to say that, and just go back to
the Government of Nunavut with the
knowledge that, you know, we are the canaries
in the coal mine when it comes to the impacts
of climate change, and we are seeing those
impacts and sharing them anecdotally as well
as in research.

And so | would ask the Government of
Nunavut witnesses to tell us about whether or
not the Government of Nunavut has begun to
quantify what the risk and what the costs may
be. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Sorry, I’m waiting for
somebody to point a finger at which witness is
going to respond. Ms. LeBlanc-Havard.

Ms. LeBlanc-Havard: Thank you, Mr. Chair.
Thank you for the question. The Government of
Nunavut has a climate change secretariat, and
they’re not here to speak for themselves. |
know that the more we engage with the climate
change secretariat, which we are doing more
frequently now, the more informed the work
that we do. But this is early days for us in some
ways, bringing those connections together.

Looking at everything through a climate change
lens is something that takes time to hone skills
and become proficient at, and so we’re learning
a lot quickly. I know that’s not a fulsome
answer, but the awareness is definitely there on
the Department of Environment’s part that we
have to be working hand in glove with the
climate change secretariat, and also drawing on
connections in other territories like ours and
circumpolarly, so those connections are starting
to be made and every time we make them and
things are better in how we execute our work.

So this is our awareness, and we know that we
can’t operate without climate change in the
foreground. Thank you, Mr. Chair.
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Chairman: Thank you. I’m just about to put
Mr. Young in the spot. | think Finance is on the
lead in this when we talk about monetizing or
putting a value on this type of work, | would
like to hear what the Department of Finance
official has to say about this. Mr. Young.

Mr. Young: Thank you, Mr. Chair, and thank
you for the question. As my colleague from the
Department of Environment pointed out, it is
early days. We record liabilities in our public
accounts, but we certainly rely on the expertise
on those in the other departments, in this case
Environment.

Until that information is available to us, we
have not begun to put a dollar value on climate
change. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you. Ms. Brewster.

Ms. Brewster: Thank you, Mr. Chair. If we
consider the knowledge that’s out there, even
just when it comes to assessing the impacts of
climate change on human health, for example,
there are projections that climate change could
cost Canada’s healthcare system billions of
dollars and reduce economic activity by tens of
billions of dollars by later in this century.

I’m hearing both the government witnesses that
responded just now saying this is a new thing,
and what | know as an Inuk is that, you know,
this is not a new thing; the issue of climate
change has been brought up and addressed by
Inuit in the circumpolar regions for decades and
decades since before the beginning of my own
career.

And | know that there’s a plethora of even
public health research that has been conducted
worldwide that measures the impact of climate
change on human health, and that there has
been some research done on, of course the
impact of climate change on the health of Inuit.
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And so it does concern me to hear that our
government witnesses are saying it’s a new
issue. It is an emerging issue; however, it is not
new. And | am very concerned that we aren’t
moving forward with a plan that creates
contingencies for the economic impact of
climate change, let alone the impact on human
health and on our communities.

I’1l just leave it at that. | know I’ve taken up
quite a bit of time, and | appreciate it, and I’ll
just say that | really do hope to get on an
airplane to get to my brother’s wedding, and so
| won’t be here. Please don’t let me be here for
the next couple of days. Thank you, Mr. Chair.

Chairman: Thank you, Ms. Brewster. You did
make valuable use of your wait before your
flight, and | appreciate your contributions to the
questions.

| do have another couple more names on my
list, but I’m just going to recognize the clock. |
know we have technically nine minutes left, but
| wouldn’t want to interfere with Mr.
Anavilok’s momentum in the line of
questioning that he will have, so we’re going to
adjourn until 9 a.m. tomorrow morning.
Thanks, everyone.

>>Committee adjourned at 16:50
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